A. INTRODUCTION 

Robert Lough has maintained a violent and dangerous existence 

his whole life, culminating in rape and attempted murder in 1986. At 

his commitment trial, the jury heard about numerous violent acts Mr. 

Lough had committed. Any person hearing these stories would feel 

safer knowing Mr. Lough is confined. 

RCW 71.09 civil commitment was not established, however, to 

detain persons beyond the expiration of their sentences simply because 

they are dangerous or violent. Due process would not allow it. RCW 

71.09 requires the State to prove a mental abnormality which causes a 

lack of control and thereby creates a likelihood the person will commit 

a sexually violent offense if released from custody. The State failed to 

prove Mr. Lough had a mental abnormality, he was likely to commit a 

sexually violent offense if released from custody, or that there was a 

causal link between a recognized disorder and his likelihood to commit 

a sexually violent act if released from total confinement. 

While Mr. Lough continues to be dangerous, this is not enough 

for indefinite commitment. The failure to establish Mr. Lough is likely 

to commit a sexually violent act if released entitles him to release. 

  



 

2 

 

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The court violated Robert Lough’s constitutional and 

statutory speedy trial rights by staying his commitment trial until he 

had completed an intervening prison sentence. 

2. The State failed to prove Mr. Lough suffered from a 

medically recognized mental abnormality. 

3. The State failed to establish Mr. Lough would commit a 

sexually violent act if released from custody.  

4. The State failed to provide a causal link between a mental 

abnormality and Mr. Lough’s likelihood to commit a sexually violent 

act if released from custody. 

5. Mr. Lough’s right to a fair trial was violated when the court 

allowed the State to introduce irrelevant actuarial evidence, which only 

established Mr. Lough’s likelihood to commit a violent act. 

6. Mr. Lough’s right to a fair trial was violated when the court 

allowed the State to introduce actuarial evidence which did not satisfy 

standards of scientific reliability. 

7. Mr. Lough’s right to a fair trial was violated by the 

admission of evidence of his likelihood to commit a violent crime, the 

probative value of which was outweighed by its prejudicial effect. 
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8. The court violated Robert Lough’s right to present a defense 

by interfering with his ability to confer with his expert and to have his 

expert evaluate the testimony of other witnesses. 

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. Were Mr. Lough’s constitutional and speedy trial rights 

violated when the court stayed his commitment hearing until the 

completion of an intervening prison sentence? 

2. RCW 71.09.020(18) requires the State to establish a person 

suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes 

it likely they will engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not 

confined in a secure facility. Is due process denied where the State was 

not able to establish Mr. Lough suffered from a mental abnormality? 

3. Due process requires the State to prove Mr. Lough is likely 

to commit a sexually violent act if released from confinement. Is due 

process denied where the State only proved Mr. Lough was likely to 

commit a violent act if released from custody and failed to prove he 

was likely to commit a sexually violent act? 

4. Due process requires the State to prove the likelihood of 

committing a sexually violent act if released from custody is the result 

of a mental abnormality. Is due process denied where the State was 
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unable to establish a causal link between Mr. Lough’s likelihood of 

committing a sexually violent act and a committable mental 

abnormality? 

5. For scientific evidence to be admissible, the court must be 

satisfied the evidence meets standards of scientific reliability. Where 

the State introduced actuarial evidence without proof it has been 

generally accepted in the scientific community and that there are other 

generally accepted methods of applying the theory or principle in a 

manner capable of producing reliable results, were Mr. Lough’s right to 

a fair trial violated? 

6. Was Mr. Lough’s right to a fair trial violated by the 

introduction of irrelevant evidence which only established Mr. Lough 

was likely to commit a general violent offense if released from custody 

and not a sexually violent offense? 

7. Was the probative value of introducing evidence Mr. Lough 

was likely to commit a general violent offense if released from custody 

outweighed by its prejudicial effect? 

8. Did the court violate Mr. Lough’s right to present a defense 

when it prohibited Mr. Lough from conferring with his expert about the 

testimony of other witnesses? 
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D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

In 1986, Robert Lough raped and attempted to murder R.I., 1 a 

woman he had met that night. CP 12.2 This was a brutal act, 

culminating in R.I. being left on the side of the road to die. 1/8/15 RP 

41. It was only through the intervention of a passerby that R.I. was able 

to survive Mr. Lough’s attack. 1/8/15 RP 41. 

1. As a child, Mr. Lough was severely abused and engaged in 

reckless and dangerous acts. 

Robert Lough had a dark childhood. 1/15/15 RP 98. He was 

abandoned by his father and severely abused by his mother and uncle. 

CP 847. Mr. Lough’s older siblings abused him. CP 847. He was 

involved in uncharged violent behavior. 1/8/15 RP 101. A cousin and 

neighbor accused Mr. Lough of possibly molesting them. 1/8/15 RP 66; 

1/12/15 AM RP 27. With another cousin, Mr. Lough had engaged in 

uncharged “rough and tumble” acts, including possible sexual 

exploration. 1/8/15 AM RP 103-04. 

                                                           
1 Because R.I. is a victim of rape and attempted murder, this brief will only refer 

to her by initials. 
2 The transcript consists of multiple volumes which are not labelled except by 

date. The pages are not sequential and every volume begins at page one. This brief will 

refer to the transcript by the date of the volume and then the referenced page number. 

E.g. “1/8/15 RP 41.” For days where multiple volumes were created, the volume will also 

be designated by AM or PM to indicate which volume is being referred to. E.g. “1/12/15 

AM RP 27.” 
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When he was approximately 14 years old, Mr. Lough left his 

mother’s house. 1/15/15 RP 103. Mr. Lough then started to get into 

trouble with the law, initially for possession of marijuana. 1/15/15 RP 

78. He had other contact with law enforcement, including possible 

joyriding charges and acquiring a handgun to shoot his brother after his 

sister told Mr. Lough their brother had sexually assaulted her. 1/15/15 

RP 78.  

2. Mr. Lough committed violent and dangerous acts as an 

adult. 

In order to avoid being charged with the attempted assault on his 

brother, Mr. Lough joined the Army. 1/15/15 RP 79. He did not fare 

well in the military, first being sanctioned for shoplifting. 1/15/15 RP 

81. A fight with another soldier followed, which resulted in Mr. 

Lough’s conviction for assault. 1/1/5/15 RP 83-84. Mr. Lough served 

time in Leavenworth prison and was given a bad conduct discharge. 

1/15/15 84. 

After completing his sentence, Mr. Lough continued to get into 

trouble. He sold drugs and abused controlled substances. He was 

convicted of theft for stealing a motorcycle. 1/15/15 RP 86. He also 

assaulted his wife. 1/15/15 RP 90. At his commitment trial, Mr. Lough 

was also accused of having sexually assaulted his wife, although this 
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act was never investigated or charged. 1/15/15 RP 123. Mr. Lough 

denied any sexual assault of his wife ever occurred. 1/15/15 RP 123. 

3. During his prison term, Mr. Lough received numerous 

infractions and had many fights with other inmates. 

Mr. Lough was sentenced to 30 years for the rape and attempted 

murder of R.I. CP 3, 2/10/15 RP 132. He was a difficult prisoner. He 

served much of his time in solitary confinement and committed over 

100 serious infractions. CP 3, 1/26/15 RP 100. The only incident of 

possible sexual misconduct, however, occurred in 1996, when Mr. 

Lough sexually harassed a female correction officer, threatening her 

and possibly masturbating in front of her. 1/12/15 AM RP 99, 115. 

There was no other evidence of sexual misconduct in the 30 years Mr. 

Lough was incarcerated. 

While at Leavenworth, Mr. Lough had become involved in 

Native American practices. He continued this practice while 

incarcerated in Washington. Mr. Lough became a “warrior” and 

testified to having never walked away from a knife fight. 2/9/15 RP 75. 

Mr. Lough showed the jury his prison tattoo, which had an eagle 

feather for each fight he had been involved in while in prison. 2/9/15 

RP 79. 
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Before his release from prison, the State moved to commit Mr. 

Lough under RCW 71.09. CP 1. Initially, the State believed Mr. Lough 

suffered from a paraphilic mental disorder. CP 8. Based upon Dr. 

Richard Packard’s testimony that Mr. Lough suffered from a paraphilic 

disorder, the court found probable cause. 7/6/10 RP 155, CP 299, 311. 

4. The court granted the State’s motion to stay commitment 

proceedings for the entirety of Mr. Lough’s sentence for an 

intervening crime. 

While waiting for jury trial to determine whether he met the 

criteria for indefinite commitment, Mr. Lough assaulted another person 

confined at the special commitment center. 1/26/15 RP 50, see also 

7/6/2010 RP 1-2. Initially charged with assault in the second degree, 

Mr. Lough pled guilty to assault in the third degree and returned to 

prison. CP 849. Over Mr. Lough’s objection, the court stayed 

proceedings until he completed his sentence for the assault. . CP 300, 

323, 326.  

5. Mr. Lough’s behavior improved upon his return to the 

special commitment center. 

When Mr. Lough returned to the special commitment center, his 

behavior improved. 2/3/15 RP 13, 28; 2/4/15 RP 10, 21. Security 

officers recognized Mr. Lough was “trying to find a better way to 

handle things” than he had in the past. 2/4/15 RP 10. He was living in a 
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less restricted ward. 2/3/15 RP 12. He engaged with his case manager. 

2/3/15 RP 28. He participated in Native American rituals intended to 

address his anger, substance abuse and the sexually violent acts he had 

committed in the past. 2/5/15 RP 15, 48. He has found better ways to 

deal with his anger. 2/4/15 RP 5-6. 

6. The State’s expert was unable to diagnose Mr. Lough with a 

paraphilic disorder, instead relying primarily upon anti-

social personality disorder for his conclusion Mr. Lough has 

a mental abnormality. 

Mr. Lough was again evaluated by the State’s expert, Dr. 

Richard Packard, who this time was unable to diagnose Mr. Lough with 

a paraphilic mental disorder. CP 1029. 

At the commitment trial, Dr. Packard’s primary diagnosis was 

anti-social personality disorder. 1/27/15 AM RP 41; CP 1029. Dr. 

Packard believed this personality disorder demonstrated Mr. Lough was 

“willing” to commit sexually violent crimes. 1/15/15 RP 143, see also 

id. at 109, 112, 147-48, 153, 1/26/15 RP 43, 1/27/15 AM RP 32. Dr. 

Packard also believed Mr. Lough suffered from post-traumatic stress 

disorder and multiple substance abuse disorders. 1/27/15 AM RP 65; 

CP 1029. The State described Mr. Lough as having a “unique 

psychological profile.” 1/15/15/ RP 42. 
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Believing the combination of anti-social personality disorder 

and the other disorders was sufficient to find Mr. Lough had a mental 

abnormality, Dr. Packard testified to a reasonable degree of 

psychological certainty that Mr. Lough’s disorders could be defined as 

a mental abnormality. 1/27/15 PM RP 4-5. 

7. The actuarial tools employed by the State’s expert could not 

predict the likelihood Mr. Lough would commit a sexually 

violent offense if released from prison. 

Dr. Packard also testified that there was no scientifically derived 

tool available which could answer the question of whether Mr. Lough 

was likely to commit a sexually violent offense if released from 

custody. 1/29/15 RP 96. Even so, Dr. Packard opined on Mr. Lough’s 

likelihood to commit a sexually violent offense based upon his 

interpretation of the Static 99-R and the Violence Risk Appraisal 

Guide-R (VRAG-R). 1/27/15 PM RP 16. 

The Static 99-R indicated there was a less than fifty percent 

likelihood Mr. Lough would commit a sexual offense if released from 

custody. 1/27/15 RP 20.The test determined he was only 37 percent 

likely to commit a sexual offense in the next ten years if not in custody. 

1/27/15 PM RP 20. 
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The VRAG-R is a test which measures the likelihood a person 

will commit a violent offense if released from custody. 1/27/15 PM RP 

49. Here, the testing indicated Mr. Lough was very likely to commit a 

violent offense if released from custody. 1/27/15 PM RP 25. 

Dr. Packard agreed the diagnostic testing was insufficient to 

establish Mr. Lough’s likelihood to commit a sexually violent offense 

if released from custody. 1/29/15 RP 96. 

Dr. Packard also agreed that clinical judgment is not a reliable 

measure for determining future likelihood of sexually violent 

reoffending, recognizing studies which demonstrate that an experienced 

psychologist is no more likely than a graduate student to make an 

accurate assessment. 2/2/15 RP 28. The defense’s expert, Dr. Brian 

Abbott, described clinical judgment as no better than a coin toss. 2/2/15 

RP 95. Nevertheless, Dr. Packard testified with regard to his clinical 

judgment, asserting it was his belief Mr. Lough was likely to commit a 

sexually violent offense if released from custody. 1/26/15 RP 76. 

8. Defense experts diagnosed anti-social disorder but were not 

able to find a medically recognized diagnosis upon which to 

base mental abnormality or a likelihood Mr. Lough would 

commit a sexually violent offense if released from custody. 

Dr. Michael First testified on behalf of Mr. Lough with regard to 

his diagnosis of Mr. Lough’s mental state. 1/28/15 RP 28. Dr. First is a 
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clinical and forensic psychologist who teaches at Columbia University 

and has helped draft the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental 

Disorders, 4th and 5th editions. 1/28/15 RP 8. Dr. First did not find Mr. 

Lough had a personality disorder or mental abnormality which 

qualified him for RCW 71.09 civil commitment. 1/28/15 RP 28. In 

order to meet the statutes requirements, he testified “there has to be 

some connection to sexual violence.” 1/28/15 RP 30. 

Dr. First agreed with Dr. Packard that Mr. Lough suffered from 

anti-social personality disorder, but stressed this diagnosis could not 

provide a basis for finding Mr. Lough was likely to commit a sexually 

violent offense if released from custody. 1/28/15 RP 34. Dr. First found 

Mr. Lough did not meet the criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder. 

1/28/15 RP 64. He found the substance abuse disorders to be in 

sustained remission, since there was no evidence Mr. Lough had used 

any controlled substances since his 1986 conviction. 1/28/15 RP 41. 

Dr. Abbott provided his psychological opinion on Mr. Lough’s 

likelihood to commit a sexually violent offense. He employed the Static 

99-R and, like Dr. Packard, found Mr. Lough was not more likely than 

not to commit a sexually violent offense if released from custody. 

2/2/15 RP 92; 2/5/15 RP 126. He did not conduct a clinical interview of 



 

13 

 

Mr. Lough, citing his concern for the inaccuracies involved in clinical 

judgment. 2/2/15 RP 95, 106. 

9. Mr. Lough admitted to his past and explained his lifestyle, 

before and while in prison. 

Mr. Lough told the jury of the dangerous life he had led. 2/9/15 

RP 62-63. He admitted to the violent rape of R.I. and having not been 

truthful about his involvement in the crime for most of his adult life. 

2/10/15 RP 132. He admitted to his violent behavior in prison and his 

assault of another person confined in the special commitment center. 

2/9/15 RP 65-66. He told the jury he had been working on becoming 

more peaceful and had been actively engaged with Native American 

culture to find a less violent path in his life. 2/9/15 RP 65. 

Mr. Lough also told the jury of his regret for having raped R.I. 

2/10/15 RP 132. He explained to the jury that the rape was a “horrible 

thing.” 2/10/15 RP 131. Mr. Lough also told the jury he had “no 

intentions of being that person again.” 2/10/15 RP 132. 

Nevertheless, the jury found Mr. Lough met the definition of 

RCW 71.09.020(18) and he was ordered committed indefinitely. CP 

1730.  
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E. ARGUMENT 

1. MR. LOUGH’S CONSTITUTIONAL AND 

STATUTORY SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHTS WERE 

VIOLATED WHEN THE COURT STAYED 

PROCEEDINGS FOR THE ENTIRE PERIOD MR. 

LOUGH SPENT IN PRISON FOR AN INTERVENING 

CRIMINAL CONVICTION. 

a. Mr. Lough had a constitutional and statutory right to 

a speedy trial. 

“The fundamental requirement of due process is the opportunity 

to be heard ‘at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner.’” 

Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 333, 96 S.Ct. 893, 47 L.Ed.2d 18 

(1976) (citing Armstrong v. Manzo, 380 U.S. 545, 552, 85 S.Ct. 1187, 

14 L.Ed.2d 62 (1965); Grannis v. Ordean, 234 U.S. 385, 394, 34 S.Ct. 

779, 783, 58 L.Ed. 1363 (1914)).  

Civil commitment involves a serious deprivation of liberty and 

requires the State to comply with due process. Addington v. Texas, 441 

U.S. 418, 419–420, 425, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979). 

Extensive pretrial delay following the filing of a commitment petition 

creates a presumption of prejudice. People v. Litmon, 162 Cal. App. 4th 

383, 405, 76 Cal. Rptr. 3d 122, 139 (2008). Due process requires the 

State to comply with speedy trial obligations when seeking to civilly 

commit a person. See State v. Goode, 830 So.2d 817, 825-26 (Fla. 
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2002) (Dismissal is remedy for State’s failure to comply with speedy 

trial obligations.). The ultimate responsibility for bringing a person to 

trial for a civil commitment within a meaningful time lies with the 

State. Litmon, 162 Cal. App. 4th at 406. 

In Washington, a civil commitment trial must be held within 45 

days of the probable cause hearing. RCW 71.09.050(1). The trial may 

be continued upon the request of either party with a showing of good 

cause, or by the court on its own motion in the due administration of 

justice, when the respondent’s rights will not be substantially 

prejudiced. Id. A case set outside of the speedy trial period without a 

waiver should be dismissed. In re Det. of Fowler, 784 N.W.2d 184, 192 

(Iowa 2010); In re Searcy, 274 Kan. 130, 144, 49 P.3d 1 (2002). 

There are no provisions within RCW 71.09 which allow the 

court to stay proceedings on the basis that a person has become 

incarcerated on new charges during the pendency of the commitment 

process. And although a civil matter may be stayed, the mere pendency 

of related civil and criminal proceedings does not prevent the civil 

proceedings from going forward. King v. Olympic Pipeline Co., 104 

Wn. App. 338, 352, 16 P.3d 45 (2000), as amended on reconsideration 

(Feb. 14, 2001); see also United States v. Kordel, 397 U.S. 1, 90 S.Ct. 
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763, 25 L.Ed.2d 1 (1970) (simultaneous civil and related criminal 

proceedings do not constitute unfairness and want of consideration for 

justice so as to require reversal of a criminal conviction).  

b. The court delayed Mr. Lough’s commitment trial 

until after he completed an intervening criminal 

sentence. 

Mr. Lough’s commitment trial was stayed from July 6, 2010 

until he appeared in court on February 5, 2014—the entire time Mr. 

Lough remained in prison. CP 302. Mr. Lough objected to the stay of 

his proceedings. He had entered a waiver of speedy trial on October 14, 

2009, agreeing to a continuance until July 8, 2010, waiving any 

objection to a trial date as late as September 1, 2010. CP 299. The court 

granted an oral motion from the State to stay Mr. Lough’s commitment 

hearing pending the outcome of his criminal case. CP 300, 318. The 

State filed a motion to stay on June 20, 2010 and again on August 18, 

2010. CP 300. Mr. Lough filed a motion that the court deny a stay on 

August 19, 2010. CP 300. He then filed a waiver of speedy trail 

through December 17, 2010. CP 300, 320.  

The court ordered Mr. Lough’s commitment trial stayed 

“pending the resolution of the criminal matters” in Pierce County. CP 

300, 323. The court entered a new stay on November 9, 2011, “until 
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such time Lough is released from the Department of Corrections and 

appears before this court,” resetting trial to October 22, 2013.3 CP 300, 

326-27. Mr. Lough objected to the stay. 

c. Staying Mr. Lough’s trial until he completed an 

intervening prison sentence violated Mr. Lough’s 

constitutional and statutory rights to a speedy trial. 

While there are no provisions within RCW 71.09 to authorize a 

stay, King does analyze when to stay a civil matter because of an 

intervening criminal case, creating a balancing process to determine 

whether a stay should be granted and requiring the trial court to 

conduct a case-by-case analysis “in light of the particular circumstances 

and competing interests involved in the case.” King, 104 Wn.App. at 

353 (citing Fed. Sav. & Loan Ins. Corp. v. Molinaro, 889 F.2d 899, 901 

(9th Cir. 1989)). In order to establish grounds for the stay, the moving 

party must establish a clear case of hardship or inequity in being 

required to go forward. King, 104 Wn.App. at 350.

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