# FILED 6-27-16

Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington NO. 73223-4-1

### COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### **DIVISION I**

In re Detention of

ROBERT LOUGH,

Appellant.

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

#### THE HONORABLE CATHERINE SHAFFER

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

ANDREA R. VITALICH Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office Sexually Violent Predator Unit 9<sup>th</sup> Floor, King County Administration Building 500 Fourth Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 477-9497

###

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

In addition to these DSM-5 diagnoses, Dr. Packard also evaluated Lough's level of psychopathy using the Hare Psychopathy Checklist (PCL-R), which is often used in evaluating sexually violent predators. RP (1/27/15 a.m.) 27-29. As Dr. Packard explained, psychopathy is a psychological construct that describes a cluster of symptoms and characteristics. RP (1/27/15 a.m.) 26. Dr. Packard gave Lough a score of 28.4 out of 40 on the PCL-R, which is a high score. RP (1/27/15 a.m.) 30-31. People who are high in psychopathy are "grandiose, egocentric, manipulative, dominant, forceful, exploitative and cold-hearted." RP (1/27/15 a.m.) 31. They are impulsive, they lack empathy and remorse, and they "readily violate social norms[.]" RP (1/27/15 a.m.) 31. As Dr. Packard explained, studies have found a correlation between high PCL-R scores and sexual recidivism; thus, Lough's high level of psychopathy is relevant in evaluating whether he is a sexually violent predator. RP (1/27/15 a.m.) 32-33. Also, people like Lough who are high in psychopathy tend not to learn to modify their behavior in response to negative consequences, which also contributes to their likelihood of re-offense. RP (2/2/15) 14-15.

Additionally, when initially prompted by questions from Lough's trial attorney on cross-examination,<sup>10</sup> Dr. Packard explained that emerging research shows that exposure to severe trauma and abuse during childhood, such as Lough experienced, causes neurological changes in the parts of the brain that control executive functioning, aggression, sexual arousal, and the "fight or flight" response as the child grows and develops.<sup>11</sup> RP (2/2/15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> See RP (1/29/15) 36-53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Lough agreed that he has a heightened "fight or flight" response when he is "triggered" by what he perceives to be a threatening situation. RP (2/9/15) 62-65.

11-14. Dr. Packard agreed that these neurological effects constitute "an acquired condition that affect[s] Mr. Lough's emotional and volitional control," and therefore, this neurological research also supports his opinion that Lough has a mental abnormality. RP (2/2/15) 14-15.

Based on the information summarized above, Dr. Packard's testimony coupled with the supporting evidence in the record is more than sufficient to support the jury's finding that Lough has a mental abnormality. Nonetheless, Lough argues that the State did not prove that he has a mental abnormality for the following reasons: 1) Dr. Packard's "primary diagnosis" was antisocial personality disorder, which is not sufficient to support civil commitment under the SVP statute; 2) psychopathy is essentially the same thing as antisocial personality disorder; 3) PTSD does not cause sexual violence; and 4) substance abuse disorders do not cause sexual violence. Appellant's Opening Brief at 21-33. These arguments should be rejected.

First, the record does not support the notion that Dr. Packard had a "primary diagnosis" of antisocial personality disorder. Rather, Dr. Packard testified that it was the combination of disorders and other psychological and neurological features that comprise

- 31 -

Lough's mental abnormality. Second, Lough's own expert, Dr. Michael First, agreed with Dr. Packard that antisocial personality disorder and psychopathy are not the same thing, and that psychopathy is a real and recognized phenomenon that is not included in the DSM. RP (1/28/15) 94-95. Third, although Dr. First opined that PTSD does not lead to violent sexual behavior,<sup>12</sup> Dr. Packard disagreed. This conflict in the testimony was for the jury to resolve; it cannot be second-guessed on appeal. The same is true for the conflicting testimony regarding substance abuse disorders.

In summary, the jury's verdict finding that Lough has a mental abnormality as defined by the SVP statute is supported by ample evidence, and that verdict should be affirmed.

## 3. AMPLE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL PROVES THAT LOUGH IS LIKELY TO COMMIT A FUTURE ACT OF SEXUAL VIOLENCE IF NOT CONFINED IN A SECURE FACILITY.

Lough also argues that the State did not prove that he is more likely than not to commit an act of sexual violence if not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Notably, however, Dr. First opined that Lough was in an "uncontrollable rage" when he raped and attempted to kill J.I., and he agreed that "[w]hen people are in a rage, they may have reduced volitional control." RP (1/28/15) 126. This testimony supports rather than undermines the jury's verdict.

confined to a secure facility. Appellant's Opening Brief at 33-39. This claim also fails, as the evidence amply supports the jury's conclusion that Lough is more likely than not to commit a sexually violent act in the future if not confined.

As discussed above, a sexually violent predator is a person with a qualifying prior offense who has a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him or her likely to commit predatory, sexually violent acts if not confined in a secure facility. RCW 71.09.020(18). "Likely" means that the person is more likely than not to commit a sexually violent act if not confined. In re Detention of Brooks, 145 Wn.2d 275, 295, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001), overruled on other grounds, In re Detention of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). There is no requirement for the State to prove that the person "will reoffend in the foreseeable future" or within a specific number of years. In re Detention of Moore, 167 Wn.2d 113, 125, 216 P.3d 1015 (2009). Actuarial instruments are admissible as evidence of future risk, and a qualified expert may also rely on "static and dynamic risk factors and his [or her] own clinical judgment" in rendering an opinion regarding a person's likelihood of re-offense. In re Detention of Meirhofer, 182 Wn.2d 632, 645-46, 343 P.3d 731 (2015). Under these standards and the

- 33 -

well-established test for evidentiary sufficiency set forth in the previous argument section, the evidence produced at trial amply supports the jury's verdict that Lough is likely to reoffend if not confined in a secure facility.

In reaching the conclusion that Lough is more likely than not to engage in future predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined, Dr. Packard "did some structured risk assessment procedures," he "reviewed the literature regarding risk assessment," he "looked at his dynamic risk factors," and "did a clinical assessment of Mr. Lough[.]" RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 12. As Dr. Packard explained, no actuarial instrument is specifically designed to predict whether a person is likely to commit future predatory acts of sexual violence over the course of a lifetime. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 14-16. Thus, Dr. Packard stated that he cannot rely solely on actuarial instruments to assess risk. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 16.

With these limitations in mind, Dr. Packard used two actuarial instruments in conducting his risk assessment: the Static-99R and the VRAG-R.<sup>13</sup> RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 16. The Static-99R "provides a statistical estimate of the likelihood of a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> "VRAG-R" stands for "Violence Risk Appraisal Guide – Revised." RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 22. The VRAG-R will be discussed in more detail in the fifth argument section below.

person being reconvicted or charged again for a new rap sheet sexual crime," meaning a crime "that would be identified . . . on the criminal history as a sexual offense, such as child molestation or rape." RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 18. Based on Lough's score of 6 and his status as a high-risk/high-needs offender, the Static-99R group risk estimate is between 18.4 and 22.8 percent after five years, and between 30.5 and 44.7 percent after ten years. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 21. As Dr. Packard noted, this group estimate would not include offenses that were unreported or undetected, as only charged crimes and convictions are included in the estimate. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 22.

The VRAG-R is used to estimate risk "of returning to a secure facility for . . . a new violent act, including sexual acts." RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 24. The VRAG-R requires placing subjects in "bins" based on their scores; Lough's score places him in bin nine, which is the highest bin. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 24. Among the offenders in bin nine sample, 76 percent were taken into custody for a new violent offense within five years, and 90 percent of them were taken into custody for a new violent offense within 15 years. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 25.

- 35 -

Dr. Packard also used an instrument called the SVR-20.<sup>14</sup> This is not an actuarial tool, but "a thinking guide" that contains a list of 20 items that have been found to be linked with sexual recidivism. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 25. Of the 20 items, Dr. Packard found that only two of them did not apply to Lough, which is indicative of high risk for sexual reoffending. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 26.

Dr. Packard also considered Lough's dynamic risk factors, which are risk factors that can change over time and are not included in actuarial instruments, but have been found to correlate with sexual reoffending. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 27. Lough's dynamic risk factors include an interest in sexualized violence, a lack of emotionally intimate relationships, impulsiveness and lack of selfcontrol, antisocial behavior, poor problem-solving skills, resistance to rules and supervision, attitudes of grievance and hostility, and negative social influences. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 28-30. Dr. Packard also considered research showing that offenders who are on some form of supervision following release are less likely to reoffend than offenders who are not on supervision. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 32-33. Dr. Packard further noted a lack of "protective factors" that would mitigate Lough's risk of re-offense. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 34.

<sup>14</sup> "SVR" stands for "Sexual Violence Risk." RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 25.

In summary, Dr. Packard looked at all of the available information "globally and all together,"<sup>15</sup> and concluded that Lough is more likely than not to commit a predatory act of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 53. This evidence, particularly when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, is more than sufficient to sustain the jury's verdict.

Nonetheless, Lough argues that the evidence of future risk is insufficient because: 1) the VRAG-R concerns all future violent crimes, not just sexually violent crimes; 2) Dr. Packard's clinical judgment is "highly inaccurate";<sup>16</sup> and 3) proof of Lough's "mere dangerousness"<sup>17</sup> is not sufficient to prove that he is likely to commit sexually violent acts. These arguments should be rejected.

First, Dr. Packard explained that he finds the VRAG-R helpful in SVP cases because "the developers of the [VRAG-R] did a much better job at looking at the actual circumstances of the offenses, not just at the title of the offense," and thus, the VRAG-R captures more sexually violent behavior than the Static-99R does. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 52. Therefore, in Dr. Packard's opinion, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Appellant's Opening Brief at 36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Appellant's Opening Brief at 38.

VRAG-R comes closer to answering the question posed in SVP

cases than other actuarial instruments. RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 52.

Second, Lough's argument regarding clinical judgment is an

argument regarding the weight of the evidence, which cannot be

reviewed on appeal. Moreover, the Washington Supreme Court

has recently held that clinical judgment is a valid consideration in

assessing risk. In re Meirhofer, 182 Wn.2d at 645-46.

Lastly, as Dr. Packard explained, the question of whether

Lough will commit a sexually violent act in the future as opposed to

a non-sexual violent act would depend on the gender of the person

who triggers his rage:

Q: So how do we know that he's likely to commit an act of sexual violence rather than just violence?

A: I don't see those as a mutually exclusive circumstance. I would – so his possibility of violence is certainly there. The possibility of sexual violence is also very likely there. It depends on the matter of what kind of stimuli, what kind of triggers may be present, and who would be around him at the time.

If a male is doing that and is there, it will probably be violence. If it's a female, it would more likely be manifested as sexual violence.

RP (1/27/15 p.m.) 8. Lough's claim fails.

# 4. AMPLE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL PROVES THAT LOUGH IS A SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATOR.

In what amounts to a combination of the two previous arguments, Lough argues that the State did not prove a "causal link" between a "medically recognized disorder" and Lough's "risk of committing a sexually violent offense" in the future. Appellant's Opening Brief at 39-42. This claim should also be rejected for the reasons already stated above. Dr. Packard testified at length and in detail about the relationship between Lough's mental abnormality and his likelihood of committing predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility, and the jury relied on this testimony in reaching its verdict.

Nonetheless, Lough argues that he has not committed any sexual misconduct since 1996, when he made sexual threats to Officer Lopez while masturbating in his jail cell, and that the evidence is insufficient on this basis. Appellant's Opening Brief at 41-42. Again, however, this is an argument regarding the weight and significance of the evidence presented by the State. The weight and significance of the evidence was for the jury to decide, and this Court should affirm.

### 5. LOUGH'S CHALLENGE TO THE VRAG-R IS BOTH PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Lough argues that the trial court should have excluded evidence of the VRAG-R actuarial instrument because it "fails to meet scientific standards for reliability" under <u>Frye v. United States</u>, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923), and because it does not meet general evidentiary standards for relevance and admissibility under ER 402 and ER 403. Appellant's Opening Brief at 42-47. This claim should be rejected. Washington appellate courts have held repeatedly that actuarial instruments are scientifically accepted and admissible in sexually violent predator cases, and the trial court properly admitted actuarial evidence in this case.

As a preliminary matter, Lough did not challenge the admissibility of the VRAG-R at trial on grounds that it did not meet the <u>Frye</u> standard. Rather, Lough devoted less than one page of his trial brief to the argument that the VRAG-R was inadmissible, and the evidence rules were the only authority he cited. *See* CP 907 (citing ER 702, ER 402, and ER 403). The trial court did not consider conducting a <u>Frye</u> hearing because none was requested, and admitted the actuarial evidence on the grounds that such evidence is generally admissible in SVP cases. RP (12/22/14) 13.

- 40 -

When Lough asked the court to reconsider its ruling in the midst of trial, he still did not cite <u>Frye</u>. CP 1320-24. The trial court denied the motion to reconsider, and ruled that the value of the actuarial evidence should be evaluated by the jury. RP (1/26/15) 57-58.

The failure to request a <u>Frye</u> hearing in the trial court precludes review on the basis of <u>Frye</u> on appeal. <u>In re Detention of</u> <u>Post</u>, 145 Wn. App. 728, 755-56, 187 P.3d 803 (2008), <u>aff'd</u>, 170 Wn.2d 302, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010); <u>In re Detention of Taylor</u>, 132 Wn. App. 827, 134 P.3d 254 (2006), <u>review denied</u>, 159 Wn.2d 1006 (2007). Accordingly, this issue may be reviewed on appeal only in accordance with general principles of admissibility under the evidence rules, and not under the <u>Frye</u> standard.

Evidentiary rulings are matters addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. <u>State v. Atsbeha</u>, 142 Wn.2d 904, 913-14, 16 P.3d 626 (2001). A trial court abuses its discretion in deciding whether evidence is admissible only when its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds. <u>State v. Enstone</u>, 137 Wn.2d 675, 679-80, 974 P.2d 828 (1999). A reviewing court will find an abuse of discretion only if it finds that no reasonable person would have ruled as the trial judge did.

- 41 -

<u>Atsbeha</u>, 142 Wn.2d at 914. In this case, the trial court exercised sound discretion in admitting evidence regarding the VRAG-R.

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